The Parish of Bodalla and Narooma

For the Diocesan 150th Anniversary

The beginnings 

People settled on isolated properties around Bodalla and Wagonga Inlet from the mid 1830s, well before the villages of Bodalla and Narooma were established.

When the Diocese of Goulburn was established in 1863, a clergyman was appointed to the new Moruya Parish which then extended from Batemans Bay to Cobargo. He held monthly services in people’s homes, halls or outbuildings until communities could establish their own churches. In 1866, for example, services were held in Thomas Mort’s home at Bodalla, in the nearby goldmining town of Nerrigundah, and at Wagonga which serviced the Dromedary goldfields and the developing timber industry, upstream of the present Narooma. 

From 1860, prominent Sydney businessman Thomas Mort had started developing his extensive country estate at Bodalla into ‘the model dairy farm in NSW’ and that brought many families to the area. Over 500 people lived on Bodalla Estate in the 1870s and 1880s. 

Mort was also a prominent Anglican layman in Sydney.
 When at Bodalla, he conducted services in the large hall in his home on Comerang.
 When in Sydney, the Estate manager or someone else would officiate at Bodalla including the Moruya clergyman on his visits.
  Bishop Mesac Thomas baptised two people at Comerang in the Tuross River in 1872.
 

Mort and his first wife Theresa intended erecting a small church at Bodalla but it was not built in their lifetimes. Mort selected the site, had plans drawn up by his friend the noted Sydney architect Edmund Blacket, and even ordered windows from England.
. 

After Mort’s death in May 1878, church services were held in Bodalla Hall until All Saint’s Church was built.  The Moruya clergyman held monthly services at Mrs Cowdroy’s home at Wagonga, and at Mr Willcocks’ or Mr Barker’s homes between Punkally Creek and Wagonga Heads. 

Mission and Ministry 

As settlement changed, so did the location of churches and even the rectory. 

When Mort died in May 1878, the people of Bodalla and surrounds decided to erect a memorial window in the church the Mort family intended erecting at Bodalla in memory of Thomas and his first wife Theresa. 
At the family’s request, Blacket enlarged his original plan for the church and included a rose window on the west end, a baptistery near the north-west corner, and a tower and spire on the south-west corner.
 All Saints was built in two stages, the first appearing to adhere to Blacket’s original simple design.
Thomas’ second wife Marianne laid the foundation stone on 18 March 1880.
 Bishop Selwyn of Melanesia, who had been at Eton with Thomas’ son Laidley, and the new Moruya incumbent Rev Frederick Davis conducted the service. The church was built of granite quarried on the Estate and freestone (for window surrounds and trim) mainly from Eurobodalla.
 The building contractor was Henry Ziegler of Moruya.
 

The first stage was not completed until early 1883 at an estimated cost of £9,000.
  

A Harvest Thanksgiving Service marked the official opening (chancel and part of the nave) by Rev Thomas Kemmis of St Marks at Darling Point in April 1883, most probably on 8 April.
 Narooma did not exist at this stage. 
The Bishop and Mrs Mort

Bodalla continued in Moruya Parish until September 1883 when Mrs Mort appointed the Rev. Thomas Symonds as All Saints’ clergyman, with no reference to Bishop Thomas.
 The next All Saints’ clergyman, Rev York, was similarly appointed.
 Neither clergyman appears in the Diocesan clergy lists of that time, nor does Bodalla appear as ‘a separate charge’ although Bodalla is no longer on Moruya’s Parish circuit.
 

Meanwhile Moruya Parochial Council in September 1884 determined ‘…the Bodalla clergyman should be restricted to the Bodalla Estate and on no account to be allowed to encroach on any portion of the Moruya parish’.
 

Bishop Thomas’ wanted Bodalla to continue as part of Moruya Parish, but the Morts and Bodalla people thought otherwise. 
 The Morts also favoured the High Church rather than the Bishop’s more evangelical tradition. 

It is unclear when Bodalla was recognised as a separate parish. The first record of confirmations in Bodalla Parish was 6 September 1885 when the Bishop confirmed 14 males and nine females at All Saints’.
 The next Bodalla incumbent, Rev Macarthur, was the first to be paid an official stipend as part of his incumbency; the bulk being paid by the Morts.

Second stage underway but stops

Construction of the final stage of All Saints’ began mid 1883.
 Blacket’s son Cyril had modified his father’s design by adding an entrance under the rose window and altering the tower to no longer accommodate a spire.
 Work continued well into 1885.
 Work stopped, probably late 1885/ early1886, when the walls had reached ‘as high as the arched tops of the windows’ and the ‘embryo tower’ had been constructed, possibly because the Mort family had no funds to finish it. 
 A few years later, All Saints’ ‘appeared to be the ruins of some cathedral or abbey, on a site worthy of some grand building’ with little likelihood of work ever resuming.  

Work resumed possibly about 1899, thanks to provisions in the will of Robert Mort, Thomas and Theresa Mort’s fourth son, who died in England in early 1892.
  The final cost was about £13,000. 
The ‘Mort Memorial Church’ was completed just before its official opening and consecration on 11 February 1902 by Archbishop of Sydney William Saumarez Smith.
 The Archbishop ‘…expressed the hope that it [the church] would be a great force for good among them’ and assured parishioners ‘they had the most beautiful country church in the Commonwealth’.
 

Bodalla as the mother church

Meanwhile, settlements west and south of Bodalla continued within Moruya Parish.

The foundation stone for the first Anglican church at Wagonga was laid in 1881 (upstream of the present township of Narooma) but built 1885/1886, beside what was briefly the new main road between Bodalla and Bega via Wagonga and Tilba Tilba.

Another church, St Philip’s, was also built in 1886 further east at the junction of the Narooma, Tilba and Punkalla Roads and closer to the fledgling settlement of Narooma gazetted in 1886.

Both churches appear to have become part of Cobargo Parish when it was created in 1889, but by the late 1890s had been absorbed into Bodalla Parish. 

The development of the timber industry around Narooma and the installation of a punt across Wagonga Inlet boosted Narooma’s population so some of St Philip’s congregation built a new church, St Paul’s, closer to their homes.
 The Bishop of Goulburn Dr Chalmers dedicated the new church of St Paul’s on Sunday 28 January 1900.
 

By 1928, Bodalla had four daughter churches – St Paul’s Narooma, St Philip’s Corunna, Wagonga, and Christ Church Nerrigundah (established in 1913), but the congregations at Wagonga, Corunna and Nerrigundah were decreasing reflecting changing settlement. 
 

By 1938, Bodalla had only St Paul’s in Narooma and Christ Church Nerrigundah (built 1913). 

Construction of a bridge at Narooma in 1931 boosted tourism and industry, so by late 1930s and 1940s, Narooma had overtaken Bodalla as a population centre. In 1945 the Bodalla rectory was sold and from 1946 the incumbent based in Narooma. A larger more modern St Paul’s Church was built in 1978.

Narooma late 1980s - early 2000s had a thriving family church, Sunday School, Kids’ Club, and youth group.  Sale of Corunna church land helped fund this youth work, but families moved away, kids grew up and moved away to university or work, and no new young families replaced them.

In 2009 the Parish rejuvenated the Bodalla congregation by basing a minister in the Bodalla community again; no minister had lived in Bodalla since the 1940s. The Mort Trust funded Rev Judy Taylor’s two year appointment. 

The Present 

On the eve of the sesquicentenary of the Diocese, our mission statement for the Parish of Bodalla and Narooma includes a challenge – ‘to love God, love our neighbour, and to become an increasingly relevant presence in our community’. It is this search for relevance that presents the greatest challenge. 
Our Parish today consists of two active but mainly aging congregations at All Saint’s and St Paul’s. Our challenge is to connect with the wider community and build relationships, particularly with younger families.

We are trying to do this by: 

· using our two churches increasingly as performing arts venues, mainly for concerts, so people can see the Church today is not an anachronism but is continuing to serve and support everyone. Our hospitality in this area is one way in which we can express the love of Christ for our community.
· offering a programme called ‘Mainly Music’(from New Zealand) to connect with young families. Rev Carol introduced it first in Bodalla in 2011 and then in Narooma in 2012. Rev Carol, with many years experience in music education, is assisted by volunteers Sue Jones, Di Mezzino, Pauline Rundle and Thea Yates. 
· providing ministry to the two retirement villages in Dalmeny where our Deacon for Aged Care Rev. Jane Simmonds, holds weekly church services, assisted by our lay minister for pastoral care Arthur Winn, and a large pastoral care team. 
· working with other denominations and community groups to establish a community welfare centre in Narooma called Monty’s for the many disadvantaged people in this area. 
· Assisting with the provision of ‘special religious education’ classes in our two local primary schools.

· raising up from within the parish an extraordinary number of ordained people in recent years. They are Rev’d Joy Harris, Rev’d Trevor Smith, Rev’d Janet Williams, Rev’d David Ruthven, Rev’d Linda Chapman and Rev’d Jessica Marsh. Two more presently studying for ministry are Anita Harris and Karlene Ferguson.
Bodalla Parish clergy 

Cross referenced with Cable Clerical Index and St Paul’s Registers of Service 

Thomas Symonds



Aug 1883-1885

Part time incumbent All Saints

Alexander Campbell Yorke

 
Dec 1885-1886 

Incumbent Diocese Goulburn

George Fairfowl Macarthur
  
 
May 1887-1888
             Minister Diocese Goulburn

George Albert Carver

    

1888-1890

Incumbent Diocese Goulburn

Charles Sydney Hawken


Sep 1890-1905

Incumbent Diocese Goulburn







1892


Locum tenens (LT), St Clements Mosman

1896-1898 Curate England

1899


In charge Wagga Wagga Grammar School


Samuel Topham


1892


LT

Francis Witherby


1896-May 1897

LT Curate-in-charge Dioc.Glbn

James Auchinleck-Ross



April-July 1906

LT

Stephen James Houison



Aug 1906-June 1909
Incumbent

Stanley Adolphus Thomas Champion

Late 1909 - Jan 1911
Incumbent

Francis Biddulph Clive



Jan 1911- June 1916
Incumbent
  


Henry Ellerker Lewin



July 1916 - May 1923 
Rector 

James Payn Lewis




June 1923 – May 1925


Joseph Campbell


Aug 1924-25

Assistant Moruya  

James Benson





Jan 1926 - Dec 1928
Incumbent

Ernest John Holmes



Sep 1929- Dec 1930
Priest-in-charge

James Mann Thomas



Jan 1931-Dec 1943
Incumbent


George Wheeler


Jan 1944-March 1946
Incumbent Moruya 


Rector no longer living in Bodalla

Benjamin Boddington



April 1946- Mar 1950
Rector

Herbert Stanley Brown



Jul 1950-Jan 1960
Incumbent

Cyril Reeve




Feb 1960-Apr 1964
Priest-in-charge

John Henry D Woodhouse


Jun 1964-1966

Incumbent

William Burchell



1966-1971

Incumbent

Robert Tate




1972-1976

Incumbent

Chris Simon




1977-1982

Incumbent

Eric Burton




1983-1988

Incumbent

Lindsay Troth




1988-1995

Incumbent


Neil Millar



1990-1992

Youth Worker


Hayden Swinburne


1993-1994

Youth worker

Frank Phillips




1995-2003

Incumbent

Keith Groundwater


2003–2004

LT


Linda Chapman



2004-2007

LT
Trevor Smith




2004-2010

Incumbent


Janet Williams



2000-2006

Honorary Deacon

Judy Taylor



2008-2010

All Saints’ Walsh 

Jane Simmonds



2009-


Honorary Deacon

Carol Wagner 




2010-


Incumbent
Note Canon William Horatio Walsh retired to Bodalla in December 1880 to live with his old friends the Morts at Comerang, doing light religious duties at Comerang, He died in December 1882 and so was never rector of All Saints’ or of the Parish.
Parish Council 2012

Our 2012 Parish Council members were Arthur Winn (Rector's warden), front left, Pauline Rundle (St Paul's people's warden), Rev Carol Wagner (Rector), Marie Small (St Paul's people's warden), Sue Jones (elected councilor), Anita Harris (appointed councilor), Phil Wells (All Saints people's warden); Peter Tate(Treasurer), back left, Rev Jane Simmonds (appointed councilor), Keith Mead (elected councilor), Karly Ferguson  (elected councilor), Carol McCabe (All Saints people's warden), Di McMartin (elected councilor). Photo by Arthur Winn
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